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COMPLAINT - DULUTH VENTURE CAPITAL PARTNERS LLC V. CLEANTECH BIOFUELS, INC. ET AL


Jehu Hand, Esq., State Bar 124016
Hand & Hand, a professional corporation

Counsel for Plaintiff
24 Calle de La Luna
San Clemente, California 92673
(949) 489-2400

Fax (949) 489-0034
SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE
DULUTH VENTURE CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, a limited liability company, 




Plaintiff,

vs.

CLEANC
TECH BIOFUELS, INC.; SIGNATURE STOCK TRANSFER INCORPORATED.; KEITH A. MAZER, an individual; EDWARD P. HENNESSY, JR., an individual; MICHAEL D. KIME, and individual; BENTON BECKER, an individual; IRA LANGENTHAL, an individual; PAUL SIMON, JR., an individual; LARRY MCGEE, an individual; and DOES 1 through 30, inclusive. 




Defendants.


)

))

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
)

)

)
CASE NO. 

COMPLAINT FOR 

(1) UCC SECTION 8-403(b) 

(2) BREACH OF CONTRACT; 

(3)
BREACH OF THE COVENANT OF GOOD FAITHAND FAIR DEALING;

(4)
FRAUD

(5)
INTENTIONAL MISREPRESENTATION;

(6) 
CONCEALMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS;

(7)
NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION;
(8)
SECURIITES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 SECTION 10-B5 AND RULE 10B-5

(9)
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 SECTION 17(A)

(10)
CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE 24501

(11)
CALIFORNIA CORPORATIONS CODE 25400

(12)
SECTION 11 OF THE SECURITES ACT OF 1933

(13)
SECTION 12(2) OF THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
(14)
VIOLATION OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE.

/
/
Plaintiff alleges:
PARTIES AND JURISDICTION
1. Plaintiff is a Minnesota limited liability company with a place of business in Orange County, California. Defendant CleanTech Biofuels, Inc. (“CleanTech”)   is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in St. Louis, Missouri. CleanTech is a public company whose common shares trade on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol CLTH. Defendant Signature Stock Transfer Incorporated (“Signature”) is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business in Plano, Texas. Signature is a registered transfer agent with the US Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”), registration number 084-05674. Signature is CleanTech’s transfer agent for the common stock. Defendant Keith A. Mazer (“Mazer”) is a resident of Orange County, California. Mazer is an investment banker for CleanTech and is engaged in the business of a broker dealer. Edward P. Hennessey, Jr., Benton Becker, Dr. Ira Langenthal, Paul Simon, Jr. and Larry McGee are all individuals and members of the Board of Directors of CleanTech; Michael D. Kime is an individual who signed CleanTech’s registration statement. 
2. The true name and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or otherwise, of Defendants Does 1 though 30 are unknown at this time, who therefore sued said Defendants by such fictitious names. Each of the Defendants designated as is responsible in some manner for the events and happenings referred to herein. Plaintiff will request leave of the court to amend this complaint to insert the true names and capacities of Does 1 through 30 when that information has been ascertained. 
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

3. Facts underlying UCC Claim. Plaintiff Duluth acquired 1,500,000 shares of CleanTech on or about April 13, 2007, upon conversion of a convertible note. To the best knowledge of Plaintiff Duluth, the holding period for these shares commenced in 2004. The shares were issued freely tradable, without restrictive legend, and were duly deposited by Plaintiff into several brokerage accounts.  
4. As of November 24, 2008, there remained 242,602 shares in the Wilson-Davis account, which were transferred electronically to another firm.  There remained 295,300 shares in the TD Ameritrade account and 140,640 shares in the ETrade account. On November 6, 2008 Plaintiff requested that the shares in the TDAmeritrade and ETrade accounts be ordered out into certificate form and delivered to it. Plaintiff received the share certificates and caused them to be sent to its brokerage account at Penson Financial Services. The shares were issued in certificate 1549 for 295,300 shares and certificate 1552 for 140,640 shares. Certificate 1549 was transferred into the name of Pension Financial Services on or about December 4, 2008, represented by certificate 1557. In December 2008, Plaintiff was informed that Mazer claimed that the shares in Plaintiff Duluth’s name belonged to him. On December 18, 2008, Plaintiff was informed by the broker for its account that Signature had rejected the transfer of these shares into Penson and/or the Depository Trust Company
, on the grounds that the shares were “not valid.”  On December 18, 2008, Plaintiff gave written notice to Defendants CleanTech and Signature that the actions in refusing transfer of the 295,300 shares and the 140,060 shares violated the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”). A copy of the written notice is attached as Exhibit A.  In the notice, Defendants CleanTech and Signature were given 7 days to approve the transfer, present a court order preventing the transfer, or present a bond to cover the value of the shares. On December 23, 2008, Plaintiff, through its counsel, communicated by telephone with the counsel for CleanTech, Ruben Chuquimia. Mr. Chuquimia confirmed that he and the company had received Plaintiff’s letter of December 18, 2008, confirmed that transfer of the shares was blocked, and stated that another party had claimed an interest in the shares, but did not disclose the name of the adverse party. Mr. Chuquimia requested additional evidence of Plaintiff’s ownership, which was supplied. However, to date the shares have not been permitted to be transferred. 
5. Section 8-102 of the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”)
 defines a certificated security as a security that is represented by a certificate. A copy of relevant sections of the Delaware UCC is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit B. UCC Section 8-103 states that a share issued by a corporation (such as CleanTech)  is a security.Plaintiff’s shares are represented by certificates 1552 and 1557. CleanTech is the issuer of the security in question. Section 8-401 of the Uniform Commercial Code provides that if a certificated security is presented for transfer, the issuer shall register the transfer provided the endorsement is genuine, there is no restrictive legend on the certificate and other conditions are met that are not at issue here. The issuer can also refuse the transfer the shares if a demand has been made, conforming to Section 8403,  that the issuer not register the transfer; however, the demand has to be followed up by legal process or an indemnity bond as required in Section 8-403. Section 8-403 (b) provides that the issuer is liable to the person presenting the certificate for unreasonable delay in registration or failure or refusal to register the transfer. On December 18, 2008, the closing sale price of the CleanTech shares was $.27. Thus, the value of the shares for purposes of Section 8403(b) was $117,703.
6. Section 8-403 provides that an “appropriate person” may demand that a certificated security not be transferred. An “appropriate person” is defined in UCC Section 8-107(a)(1) to be “the person specified by a security certificate or by an effective special endorsement to be entitled to the security.” There was no “special endorsement” on the Shares. The only person specified on the security certificate is the owner - Petitioner. Only Petitioner or someone claiming to be Petitioner can give notice under Section 8-403. The notification must identify the registered owner of the shares. If the issuer receives such a demand, it must communicate with the registered owner (the Plaintiff) and in that communication it must state that it has received a demand that the security be not transferred; that the issuer will withhold registration of the transfer for a period of time stated in the communication, but not to exceed 30 days, to provide the demanding third party with the opportunity to obtain legal process or an indemnity bond. No notice conforming to Section 8-403 was provided by CleanTech. The only communication provided was that the transfer was blocked due to an adverse claim by a third party. CleanTech has never claimed that another person, claiming to be Petitioner, has requested that the Shares not be transferred. CleanTech has not given notice of any other defect such as faulty endorsement, that would prohibit transfer under Section 8-401. 
7. Within the time period stated in the issuer’s notice, the “appropriate person” is required to either present an injunction or restraining order enjoining the transfer, or file an indemnity bond with the issuer. To the knowledge of the Plaintiff, no such injunction, restraining order or indemnity bond has been obtained. However, since Defendant CleanTech did not provide any notice conforming to Section 8-403, and its notice was that a third party, not “an appropriate person” made the claim, it is irrelevant whether it provides legal process or an indemnity bond at a later date. Under Section 8-403(b), CleanTech is liable for the failure to transfer. 
8. Under UCC Section 8-404, an issuer can also refuse to transfer a certificated security if it has been served with legal process restraining the transfer. CleanTech has not provided the Plaintiff with any information regarding legal process in connection with the transfer of the Shares. 

9. Section 8-407 provides that an issuer’s transfer agent has the same obligation to the holder of a certificated security as has the issuer. Signature is CleanTech’s transfer agent and so has the same obligations under the above sections of the UCC as does CleanTech.  Signature did not provide any notice under Section 8-403, has refused or failed to permit the transfer of Plaintiff’s shares, and is therefore also liable under Section 8-403(b).
10. Facts underlying claims against Mazer as a broker dealer. On December 27, 2007, Plaintiff engaged Defendant Mazer to assist in selling its shares of CleanTech. Plaintiff gave Mazer a limited power of attorney over the shares in one brokerage account held at Wilson-Davis and Co., providing him with the power to trade the account, and provided the online logins and passwords for two other accounts, one account at each of ETrade and TDAmeritrade where the remaining shares were held. The unwritten agreement was that Mazer would sell the shares in the open market, in an effort to maximize returns, and would receive a commission of 50% of sales (net of the commission charged by the broker holding the shares). Plaintiff Duluth’s address on the trading accounts is in California.  Plaintiff is located in California for purposes of jurisdiction of the state securities laws. Section 25004(a) of the California Corporations Code states “’Broker-dealer’ means any person engaged in the business of effecting transactions in securities in this state for the account of others or for his own account.” Mazer effected transactions in Plaintiff’s common stock (which is a “security”) and Mazer engaged in this activity not just one time but many times.  Mazer does not meet any of the exemptions to the definition of a broker-dealer set forth in Section 25004(b). Mazer is therefore a broker dealer under California law. Mazer is not licensed as a broker dealer with the state of California nor with the Financial Industry National Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”).
11. Until the time Mazer’s power of attorney on the accounts was terminated on November 18, 2008, Plaintiff sold, under the control of Mazer, 887,697 shares out of the Wilson Davis account, for net proceeds of $755,046.75; 5,000 shares out of the TDAmeritrade account, for net proceeds of $6,439.97; and 54,985 shares for $63,679.53 out of the ETrade account, for a total of $812,286.31.  However, Mazer also bought, with cash in these three accounts, a total of 147,634 shares for a cost of $148,543.36 cash. Plaintiff was not advised that Mazer would be buying shares. The instructions were to sell shares, not buy. In mid-November Plaintiff began reviewing the buy orders in the account and strangely nearly all of the buy orders were for small quantities of shares, at the beginning or near the end of the trading day. 
12. Out of the total sales proceeds of $812,286.31, Mazer was entitled under the agreement to a commission of 50%, or $406,143.16. Mazer caused $263,833 to be sent to CleanTech to purchase additional shares in the name of Padstow Estates, Inc., and caused $319,100 to be sent to Gillette International, Inc., to a bank account in the Turks and Caicos.  The total amount of $582,933 paid exceeded the commission due Mazer by $176,789.84.  When Plaintiff learned of the buy orders and the excess commissions being paid, it terminated Mazer’s power of attorney on the Wilson Davis account and changed the passwords on the online trading accounts.
13. Special Facts justifying exemplary damages; facts underlying securities fraud claims.  This is not merely a dispute about ownership of shares or brokerage commissions. Plaintiff alleges that in fact the illegal actions carried on by Mazer as its broker and by CleanTech in the UCC dispute are part of an illegal “pump and dump” stock fraud carried out by Mazer in concert with  unknown persons and the tacit approval, if not the participation, of CleanTech. These illegal actions mandate the imposition of exemplary damages against Mazer and CleanTech.  Because Plaintiff cancelled Mazer’s trading authority on Plaintiff’s shares, and Plaintiff began selling shares without the control of Mazer, Plaintiff disrupted Mazer’s control of the trading market and Mazer’s (and other parties acting in concert with him) ability to manipulate the trading market for CleanTech stock. The blocking of Plaintiff’s shares is a further attempt to illegally manipulate the trading market for CleanTech common stock.
14. Although Plaintiff knows of no evidence to indicate that CleanTech is involved in the actual trading of its shares, a high stock price benefits and has benefitted CleanTech. As stated in CleanTech’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, CleanTech sold $1.4 million in debentures convertible into common stock at $.15 per share. The trading price of the common stock on the date these debentures were sold was $1.01, a price many times higher than the conversion price, which surely influenced the investors to invest the $1.4 million. The 10-Q also states that on September 15, 2008, CleanTech acquired technology for 4 million shares of stock, it acquired other technology on March 20, 2008 for 2,887,687 shares, when the trading price was $.90; acquired a patent on October 22, 2008 for consideration including a warrant to purchase 900,000 shares for $.45, when the trading price was $.63; and sold $357,000 of securities comprising notes convertible into common stock at $.25 per share and warrants exercisable at $.45, in September to November 14, 2008, when the trading price ranged from $.40 to $.98. If CleanTech’s stock price had not had the artificially high levels it had as a result of price manipulation, then CleanTech would have been required to issue a greater number of shares for its financing and acquisition transactions.
15. Plaintiff asks the indulgence of the court for the lengthy and somewhat technical exposition of the stock fraud scheme, as it involves a complex set of facts. But there is a typical pattern found in nearly all of stock fraud schemes. Typically the issuing company has no or minimal revenues and claims to have some breakthrough technology or product. The nature of the product often is tailored to contemporaneous social or economic problems. For example, when the HIV/AIDS epidemic was in the forefront, there were a series of stock fraud schemes from companies claiming to have treatments relating to that disease. At the time CleanTech became public, the issues in the forefront were global warming and high petroleum prices.  CleanTech has had no revenues to date, but claims to be developing processes to convert cellulosic products including paper and other trash into ethanol or other combustible products.  CleanTech has yet to demonstrate the commercial viability of the technology.
16. A second pattern in stock fraud programs is the control of the free trading float by a small group of shareholders, with the identity of the promoters controlling the float usually hidden. Because the float is held by a small, controllable group of shareholders, the supply of shares on the market can be restricted and the trading price easily manipulated. The promoters wish to be hidden because after the promoters sell their stock and the stock price collapses, the promoters need to proceed to the next stock fraud with their reputations unaffected. Oftentimes the promoters have a history of regulatory problems which needs to be hidden from the investing public. Usually the stock fraud begins with a reverse merger of an existing, privately held  company into a public “shell” company which has no assets or business. The existence of this second pattern can be seen from examining the publicly filed documents of CleanTech. These documents are written to obscure rather than to disclose this concentration of control, but it exists and can be deduced by careful examination.
  And as a result of this control, a third hallmark of stock fraud schemes has been present: an ongoing market manipulation of the CleanTech stock by Mazer and others acting with him.
17. CleanTech began life in 1996 as Long Road Entertainment, Inc., engaged in the theater, motion picture and entertainment business. It became inactive in 2005 but was traded on the Pink Sheets, which is an over the counter market with no disclosure requirements.  In 2007, Long Road carried out a 1-for 100 stock split, resulting in 752,096 shares outstanding. This included 118,464 shares which were held by only six persons, all of them either corporations or trusts. Because Long Road was not a reporting company at the time, we don’t know who owned the other shares outstanding, nor who were the real owners of the 118,464 shares. But in the typical reverse merger scenario, the control blocks of the shell company are bought by the stock promoters.  Plaintiff believes that in discovery it will be able to confirm that this occurred, resulting in most or nearly all of these 752,096 shares held by a small group of shareholders including Mazer.  In the reverse merger, Long Road issued 38,624,784 shares to acquire SRS Energy, Inc., the private company with the technology, and following the merger issued 600,000 additional shares to management. Long Road changed its name to Alternative Ethanol Technologies and subsequently to CleanTech Biofuels, Inc.  At the time of the reverse merger, on May 24, 2007, Long Road converted six promissory notes into 9,366,800 shares. These 9,366,800 shares were issued to just six persons, all corporations or limited liability companies.  Therefore, from May 24, 2007 until the next batch of shares was registered, the public float of CleanTech (10,118,896 shares) consisted of the following:

Name of holder


number of shares
percent of public float
Brite Star Associates, Inc.

1,777,867

18%

Two Shamrocks, Inc.


1,600,000

16%

Fountain Consulting, Inc.

1,482,000

15%

St. Ives Consulting, Inc.

1,368,000

13%

STL Capital Holdings, Inc.

1,638,933

16%

Duluth Venture Capital Partners
1,500,000

15%

Miscellaneous unknown

752,096

7%

Total




10,118,896

93%

18. It can be seen that even if the premerger float of 752,096 shares are not controlled by this group, 93% of the public float is held by just 6 persons. This number is easily controlled. Plaintiff is aware now, that its 1,500,000 shares constituted 15% of the float. But until commencing this lawsuit, Plaintiff Duluth was never informed of these issues; never given a copy of any information regarding the company structure; and in fact at the time it received the share certificates, CleanTech was on the Pink Sheets and had no public disclosure. There was no way Plaintiff Duluth would have known that it owned such a sizeable portion of the float. And Plaintiff Duluth sold no shares until January 2008, after it had given power of attorney over its shares to Mazer. Until 2008 the trading market for CleanTech was basically inactive. 
19. On January 2, 2008 CleanTech’s registration statement was cleared by the Securities and Exchange Commission. The registration statement enabled additional shares to become part of the public float, which now totaled 21,124,230. These 11,013,333 additional shares were issued on conversion of Series A Convertible Debentures sold by SRS Energy (and assumed by CleanTech) on April 16, 2007. The principal component of a registration statement is a document called a prospectus. This document provides the required disclosure to the public market regarding the issuer (CleanTech) and the offering. The prospectus shows the float being structured as follows as of January 2, 2008:

Shareholders


Shares


Percent of Float

Premerger shareholders
752,096

4%

Brite Star Associates, Inc.
1,777,867

8%

Two Shamrocks, Inc.

1,600,000

8%

Fountain Consulting, Inc.
1,482,000

7%

St. Ives Consulting, Inc.
1,368,000

6%

STL Capital Holdings, Inc.
1,638,933

8%

Duluth Venture Capital 
1,500,000

7%

IS Investments, Inc.

786,667

4%


Leggwear International
786,667

4%

Trinity Enterprises, LLC
1,966,667

9%

Padstow Estates, Inc.

1,966,667

9%

Anahuac Management
1,573,333

7%

Agest, Inc.


1,180,000

6%

James Karl


157,333

1%

Gary Slay


236,000

1%

Jeff Slay


236,000

1%

Jill Garlich


236,000

1%

Michael McMahon

118,000

.5%

John A .Caito


78,667


0%

Glen T. Slay


1,691,333

8%

20. It can be seen that 18 shareholders control 96% of the float, and that 12 shareholders control 91% of the float
. However, a careful review of the prospectus shows that the number of shareholders that control the bulk of the float is actually much smaller. Because of this concentration of control, the public trading market is easily subject to manipulation.
21. The rules regarding the content of prospectuses are quite strict. There are specific disclosure requirements. As relevant here, CleanTech was required, for each selling shareholder and each person who held more than 5% of the outstanding (64,204,003) shares as of January 2, 2008, to disclose the person who had “beneficial ownership” of the shares. “Beneficial ownership” is a defined term but it basically means the right to vote, to direct the disposition of, or to enjoy the other benefits of ownership including receiving the proceeds of sales of the shares.  Under the beneficial ownership rules, if shares are held by a corporation or other entity, the individual (natural person) beneficial owner has to be supplied.  If a natural person controls shares held by more than one entity, the ownership of the two entities has to be aggregated. The 5% threshold for the CleanTech prospectus is 3,210,200 shares (5% of 64,204,003 shares outstanding as of the date of the prospectus).  The information in the CleanTech prospectus regarding the large shareholders in the float is in several cases is materially misleading. The two pages containing the list of the selling stockholders is attached as Exhibit C hereto.  Plaintiff alleges that the falsity of the information is so obvious to any financially sophisticated person that CleanTech, and its directors and officers, either knew about the misinformation or was so reckless as to constitute constructive knowledge.  Plaintiff does not have the time or the financial resources to conduct a complete investigation at this time without the benefit of discovery, but believes that the discovery process will reinforce the conclusions of its preliminary investigation.
22. In the prospectus, ten corporate shareholders are listed as selling stockholders. None of these shareholders are listed as having more than 5%. Two of the corporations, Two Shamrocks and STL Capital Holdings, Ltd. are claimed to be owned by Anthony Cupini
, A third corporation, Agest, Inc., is claimed to be owned by Eugene P. Slay
. Plaintiff has no cause to believe Cupini and Slay’s ownership is misstated. But, there are 4 other corporations whose holdings appear highly suspicious. The control persons for these companies cannot definitively identified, and the names of the corporations appear to indicate that one or more are  offshore corporations, and that the persons listed as beneficial owners are mere nominees.
23. Brite Star Associates is claimed to be controlled by Yirlania Rivas Marin. The two surnames indicate that Rivas Marin is probably (a) latinamerican and (b) does not live in the USA. Latinamericans use two surnames, the first being the father’s surname and the second the mothers name. Latinos who live in the USA usually do not use the second surname, because non-Latinos incorrectly assume the final surname is the father’s. Yirlania is a common female name in Panama and Costa Rica, both jurisdictions popular for offshore incorporation. Plaintiff has not yet been able to determine the jurisdiction of incorporation for Brite Star.

24. Likewise, for Fountain Consulting, Meyvis Sanchez is listed as the control person. Meyvis is a common female name in Panama, a popular jurisdiction for offshore incorporation. As it turns out, Fountain Consulting was incorporated in Panama on November 1, 2006. A copy of the extract from the Panama Public Registry is attached as Exhibit D.  The president of Fountain Consulting is listed on the corporate registry as Meyvis Sanchez. The incorporation was carried out by a law firm in Panama named Gray & Co. According to the Gray & Co., website, Meyvis Sanchez is a Junior Lawyer for that firm, graduating in 2008. Apparently she was elected as president while she was a law student, and clerking at Gray & Co.  In all likelihood, Meyvis Sanchez is not the real owner of Fountain Counsulting, but is the President because she works in the law firm which incorporated the entity.  To be noted is the fact that Juan Montes is the Treasurer of Fountain. His address is given in the articles of incorporation of Fountain as his address is given as Calle 27E, Edificio Saleja, Apartment 203, Panama City.  Is Juan Montes related to the Hector Montes who is listed in the prospectus as the control person of St. Ives Consulting? Who is really the owner of Fountain’s 1,482,000 shares? And why are they hiding? Is it someone else we should know?
25. Trinity Investments LLC is listed as controlled by Maritza Sanabria. Maritza Sanabria, also known as Maritza Sanabria Miranda, is an offshore lawyer in Costa Rica
.  Ms. Sanabria is no stranger to the US public stock market.  In the SB2 registration statement of Alternative Construction Company, as filed with the Commission on September 14, 2006 she is listed as the control person of Elcid, a selling stockholder. In the SB2 of Litfunding Corp. filed on November 29, 2006, she is listed as the control person of Imperial Capital Holdings, also a selling stockholder. However, in a Form 10QSB for Genethera, Inc. filed on August 14, 2007, Genethera discloses that Maritza Sanabria was not the real control person for Imperial Capital Holdings, as previously disclosed by Genethera, but that she was a nominee for another person.
  So, it appears that Ms. Sanabria is in the business of being a nominee for selling stockholders in US public companies. Who is really the owner of Trinity Investments’ 1,966,667 shares? And why are they hiding? Is it someone else we should know?
26. Now we come to Padstow Estates, Inc. A review of the Panama Public Registry shows that Padstow Estates was incorporated in Panama on July 17, 2007 by the law firm of Gray & Co.  The CleanTech prospectus claims that Padstow is controlled by one Marissa Simmons. However, as stated in paragraph 12 above, Defendant Mazer used $263,833 from the sales commissions paid by Plaintiff to fund the purchase of Padstow’s 1,966,667 shares. It seems very likely that Mazer or someone acting with him actually controls Padstow.  The president of Padstow according to the public registry is Marisela Simmons. Plaintiff believes that the name “Marissa”  in the prospectus is probably just a typographical error and that “Marissa” and “Marisela” are the same persons. Interestingly, the vice president and secretary of Padstow is Meyvis Sanchez, who is the president of Fountain Consulting.  It seems highly probably that Marisela/Marissa Simmons is not the real owner or control person of Padstow. Also interesting is that the treasurer of Padstow is one Hector Montes. In the articles of incorporation of Padstow, Hector Montes’s address is given as Calle 27E, Edificio Saleja, Apartment 203, Panama City.  This is the same address as given for Juan Montes. Who is really the owner of Padstow’s 1,966,667 shares? And why are they hiding? Is it someone else we should know?
27. Plaintiff has not located the jurisdiction of incorporation of St. Ives Consulting, but the control person of St. Ives provided in the CleanTech prospectus is none other than Hector Montes, the treasurer of Padstow and resident of Panama City, Panama. Who is really the owner of St. Ives’ 1,368,000 shares? And why are they hiding? Is it someone else we should know?

28. Plaintiff has not the resources at this time to investigate the shareholdings of the other corporate shareholders, Leggwear International, Inc. and IS Investments, but by reason of the issues presented by the other corporations, believes strongly that IS and Leggwear may also be offshore nominees.
29. It should also be noted that as of the date the CleanTech prospectus was cleared on January 2, 2008, Mazer had a power of attorney over Plaintiff’s 1,500,000 shares. In addition, it has come to the attention of Plaintiff that Mazer claims, on behalf of himself or other parties, to be the actual owner of Anahuac Management’s 1,573,333 shares, and that Anahuac Management is in the process of filing suit against Mazer for Mazer’s refusal to give the share certificate to Anahuac.  Mazer styles himself as CleanTech’s investment banker. Plaintiff believes that discovery will show that Mazer is a “promoter” of CleanTech in that he played an integral role in structuring and sponsoring CleanTech, in the preparation of the prospectus, and locating investors.
 The identity of promoters has to be disclosed in the prospectus. However, nowhere in the prospectus is there any mention of Mazer or of any compensation to him for acting as CleanTech’s investment banker. Nowhere is there disclosure that he has control over shares.  Plaintiff’s preliminary investigation leads it to believe that as of the date of the prospectus, Mazer controlled, or believed he controlled, the Padstow, Plaintiff Duluth’s and Anahuac shares totaling 5,040,000 shares, or 7.8% of the total shares outstanding and 24% of the public float. If Brite Star’s 1,777,867 shares, Fountain Consulting’s 1,482,000 shares, and St. Ives Consulting’s 1,368,000 shares are added in, this results in a staggering total of 9,667,867 shares being controlled by undisclosed persons – 46%! 

30. The above information regarding the falsity of the information supplied in the CleanTech prospectus and registration statement was easy to obtain in a couple hours using  internet search engines. Any reasonably prudent person in the management of its own affairs would have been suspicious to see more nearly all the selling shareholders were corporations and apparently from offshore jurisdictions, and performed further investigation in fulfilling their due diligence obligations with respect to the registration statement. 

31. Now that Plaintiff has established the high likelihood that the public float of CleanTech is controlled by Mazer and his associates, Plaintiff will now discuss the stock manipulation  that accompanies the typical stock fraud, and which Plaintiff alleges is present here. The first type of stock manipulation occurs when one person, or two persons acting in concert, creates the false appearance of a trading market by simultaneously entering buy and sell orders from two different trading accounts. Investors were misled by these artificial trades made in CleanTech stock into believing that there is a real trading market, that there was real volume in the stock, and were further mislead into believing that the CleanTech stock had the high value assigned by the artificial trading prices.  Plaintiff believes that with discovery of the trading records of Mazer, the accounts he controls, and the accounts of other persons who traded CleanTech stock, it will be able to show that this stock manipulation took place. 

32. The second type of stock manipulation engaged in by Mazer is called “painting the tape” or more specifically, “marking the close.” Marking the close consists of posting a trade, usually for a nominal amount, at the close of the trading day, so that the last sale price posted for the day is high. Marking the close gives the false impression that there is real trade taking place. It shows the stock maintaining a price level or advancing. The next trading day, the closing sale price sets a higher baseline for the stock price
. Painting the tape is the same type of bogus trade but at times other than the end of the trading day. Plaintiff became aware of this manipulation after reviewing Mazer’s trading of Plaintiff’s stock in its ETrade and TD Ameritrade accounts.  For example, in the Etrade account for the month of October, 2008 Mazer effected the following trades (all times are in EDT, with the market being open from 9:30 to 16:00:



Number of 

Price 

Total Purchase

ETrade

Date
Time
 Shares


per share
 Price


Commission

Oct 8.
15:46
100


.40

$40


$9.99

Oct 9.
9:30
100


.40

$40


$9.99

Oct. 10
9:52
100


.40

$40


$9.99

Oct 13
12:53
100


.40

$40


$9.99

Oct 13.
15:15
117


.40

$46.80


$9.99

Oct. 14
15:41
100


.55

$55


$9.99

33. Note that these trades were for 100 shares or only slightly more. There is no real purpose for buying 100 shares at $.40 and paying in effect a 25% commission. These buys were done by Mazer only to manipulate the market. A review of the trading history for CleanTech on each of these dates shows that, these were the highest prices at which CleanTech traded each of these days; that with the exception of October 9, CleanTech’s common stock traded lower during the day than the price at which Mazer bought shares; and in the case of the three trades made near the close of market, the market closed at that price. Plaintiff thinks that Mazer and others he works with have many accounts to use in making these fake buys. Now we can look more in depth at the trading history of another day, November 21, 2008 for an example of “marking the close”:

Price

No. Shares

Time EST
0.40 

100    


15:58:11

0.32 

1000    

15:54:55

0.45

100    


15:02:04

0.32 

702    


14:44:10

0.32 

1000


14:44:08

0.30 

7600    

14:10:23

0.40

 100  


13:40:12

0.40 

100


 13:36:52

0.32 

500


11:11:31

0.33 

1500


11:11:30

0.40 

100


10:39:38

0.40 

300


09:53:36

0.40

 300


09:53:24

0.40 

1000


09:53:17

0.40

 5000


09:52:08

0.40 

6000


09:51:25

0.42

 181


09:40:24

 0.42

 500 


09:38:17

 0.30 

875 


09:31:27
34. Plaintiff’s analysis of these trades is as follows. There were initially 875 shares sold under a market order at open on this date.  In other words, the seller told his broker to sell 875 shares when the market opened, at market price. The broker carried out the order one minute and 27 seconds after the market opened. The bid price (the price at which market makers commit to buy shares) was $.30, so the sale happened at .30 $. Then some person came in seven minutes later to buy 500 shares at $.42 (the ask, the or the price at which market makers commit to sell shares) -  the highest price possible. During the day, the price of the stock fell to $.32, on two occasions. This represented someone not in the “group” selling. Someone immediately came in and bought 100 shares at $.40. Yes, $40 worth of stock. The last such trade was at less than two minutes before close. This is an obvious example of marking the close. This kind of activity occurred not only on November 21, but on nearly all trading days. 
 Marking the close and painting the tape are both activities Plaintiff alleges are a critical part of Mazer’s manipulation of the market. 
35. There is a third very common type of stock manipulation consisting of entering buy and sell orders simultaneously from two accounts under common control or by arrangement between two parties. This practice gives the false impression that a real market exists for the shares. Plaintiff believes that with the fruits of discovery it can also show this type of manipulation took place also.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Uniform Commercial Code Section 8403(b) – Against Defendants CleanTech and Signature
36. Plaintiff refers to and realleges paragraphs 1 through 35, inclusive as if fully set forth herein.

37. Plaintiff submitted 435,940 shares of CleanTech for transfer to its brokerage account at Pension Financial Services, Inc., and was informed on December 18, 2008 that CleanTech’s transfer agent, Signature, was rejecting the transfer of the shares, namely, certificate 1557 for 295,300 shares and certificate 1552 for 140,640 shares. CleanTech’s counsel confirmed on December 23, 2008 that the transfer of the shares was blocked due to the adverse claim of another party.  However, neither Signature nor CleanTech provided the required notice of any adverse claim under Section 8403(a) regarding adverse claims of an “appropriate party,” eg, the Plaintiff, which would have provided a fixed time (not to exceed 30 days) for the appropriate party to present a restraining order or injunction or provide an indemnity bond.  Neither Signature nor CleanTech stated any other reason to refuse transfer of the shares, such as a faulty endorsement. any other defect, nor did they provide a restraining order or injunction to bar the transfer.  Uniform Commercial Code Section 8403 (b) provides that the issuer is liable to the person presenting the certificate for unreasonable delay in registration or failure or refusal to register the transfer. On December 18, 2008, the closing sale price of the CleanTech shares was $.27. Thus, the value of the shares for purposes of Section 8403(b) was no less than $117,703, but if the trading price of the CleanTech stock is higher than $.27 at any time after December 18, 2008, Defendant CleanTech’s liability for violation of Section 8403 shall be accordingly higher.
38. CleanTech acted through Signature, its transfer agent, in blocking the transfer of the shares. Section 8407 provides that an issuer’s transfer agent has the same obligation to the holder of a certificated security as has the issuer. Signature is CleanTech’s transfer agent and so has the same obligations under the above sections of the UCC as does CleanTech.  Signature did not provide any notice under Section 8403, or any information regarding any legal process by a third party,  has refused or failed  to permit the transfer of Plaintiff’s shares, and is therefore also liable under Section 8403(b) for the same amounts as CleanTech. 
39. Defendants CleanTech’s and Signature’s conduct constitutes oppression, fraud or malice,  all with the intention of causing injury to Plaintiff, and was oppressive, fraudulent and malicious conduct as defined in California Civil Code section 3294, and Plaintiff should recover, in addition to actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages according to proof.  
40. 
This despicable conduct subjected Plaintiff to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of his rights so as to justify an award of exemplary and punitive damages. 

41. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants CleanTech and Signature’s violation of Section 8401 to 8403 inclusive of the Uniform Commercial Code, Plaintiff has been damaged in an amount in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Contract - against Defendant Mazer
42. Plaintiff refers to and realleges paragraphs 1 through 41, inclusive as if fully set forth herein.
43. Plaintiff entered into a valid and binding agreement with Defendant Mazer wherein Mazer agreed to manage the sale of Plaintiff’s shares of CleanTech for a commission of 50%. Plaintiff did not provide any instructions to Defendant Mazer for purchase of any CleanTech shares from the open market.  Defendant Mazer caused commissions to be paid to himself in excess of the 50%, namely, $176,789.84 in excess payment. 
44. 
Further, Mazer purchased 147,634 shares of CleanTech on the open market, for total consideration of $148,543.36, or an average price of $1.01 per share. Since purchase of these shares, their value has dropped to approximately $.27 per share, and Mazer is liable for the difference in value of $74 per share or $109,249.16, assuming Plaintiff is able to sell the shares for $.27. The liability could vary depending on the price Plaintiff is able to sell the shares for. 

45. 
Plaintiff also alleges that Mazer, an unlicensed broker-dealer, charged a rate of commission profoundly in excess of industry standards, which Plaintiff alleges, and will prove at trial, should not exceed 5%. Under the common law doctrine, that unlicensed professionals should be held to the same professional standards as their licensed colleagues, Plaintiff requests that the court revise the commission percentage and order a refund of the difference to Plaintiff. 
46. Alternatively, under the common law doctrine that contracts for services with unlicensed professionals are voidable at the option of the other party, Mazer, as an unlicensed broker dealer, is not entitled to any sales commissions, and Defendant Mazer must refund all commissions to Plaintiff.
47. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Mazer’s breach of contract, and the voidable or void contract existing because Mazer is unlicensed, Plaintiff has been damaged in an amount in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing – Against Defendant Mazer
48. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein. 
49. Plaintiff’s agreement with Defendant Mazer contained an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing that the parties would do nothing which would injure the right of the other to receive the contract’s benefits.  Good faith performance of a contract emphasizes faithfulness to an agreement’s common purpose and consistency with the parties’ justified expectations.
50. Based on Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein, it has breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by failing to perform under the parties’ agreement.

51. Whether a breach of the agreement exists or not, Defendant breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which is an independent allegation and obligation

52. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, Plaintiff has been damaged in an amount in excess of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
53. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Fraud
53. Plaintiff refers to and realleges paragraphs 1 through 53, inclusive above herein, as if the same were fully set forth herein.
54. Plaintiff alleges that the Defendant Mazer took such actions alleged herein with the intent to defraud Plaintiff.
55. Defendant Mazer represented, among other things, that he would sell the shares of CleanTech in Plaintiff’s account. 
56. 
Those statements were false and misleading and the Defendant knew that they were false.

57. Defendant Mazer, upon information and belief, failed to disclose and withheld from Plaintiff material facts necessary to make the facts the Defendant stated not false and misleading, including that the Defendant Mazer intended to buy stock of CleanTech on the open market in order to perpetuate his scheme of stock manipulation
58. Plaintiff, relying on Defendant Mazer’s material misrepresentations and/or concealments of material fact, as alleged above, gave Mazer trading authority over the accounts, and Mazer bought shares of CleanTech and used the accounts to further his illegal scheme. 
59. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s misconduct, Plaintiff is entitled to damages according to proof at trial but at least in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00). 
60. Defendant Mazer’s conduct constitutes oppression, fraud, or malice, all with the intention of causing injury to Plaintiff, and was oppressive, fraudulent and malicious conduct as defined in California Civil Code section 3294, and Plaintiff should recover, in addition to actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages according to proof.  
61. This despicable conduct subjected Plaintiff to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of his rights so as to justify an award of exemplary and punitive damages. 

62. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraud and Deceit by Intentional Misrepresentation – against Defendant Mazer)

63. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 62 above.
64. As alleged above, Defendant Mazer made representations of material fact to Plaintiff. Those representations were false.
65. Defendant Mazer knew that the representations were false when they made them or they made those representations recklessly without knowing whether they were true or false.
66. Defendant Mazer made those representations with an intent to defraud and to deceive Plaintiff, that is, Defendant Mazer made those representations for the purpose of inducing Plaintiff to rely upon them and to act or to refrain from acting in reliance on those representations.
67. The true facts were that Defendant Mazer knew that he would purchase shares to manipulate the trading market for CleanTech.

68. Defendant Mazer knew that Plaintiff did not know and could not reasonably discover these concealed and suppressed facts.
69. At the time Defendant Mazer made the representations alleged, Plaintiff was unaware of the falsity of the representations and believed them to be true.  
70. Plaintiff relied on these representations and was induced to and in reliance on and as a result of the misrepresentations did provide Defendant Mazer with trading authority over the account. 
71. Plaintiff was also unaware that omissions, as alleged above, had been made. 
72. Plaintiff reasonably and justifiably relied on those representations and omissions when it gave Defendant Mazer trading authority.
73. Had Plaintiff known the true facts, it would have never given Defendant Mazer trading authority.
74. Because of its superior position, and their possession of material facts which only they knew and which they knew that Plaintiff did not know, and his knowledge that these facts were material to Plaintiff, Defendant Mazer had a duty to disclose these facts to Plaintiff.
75. In engaging in the conduct alleged, Defendant Mazer suppressed facts that each was bound to disclose, and gave information of other facts to Plaintiff that were likely to mislead Assignors because of the suppressed facts.

76. Defendant Mazer owed Plaintiff a duty of full disclosure, honesty and candor, as well as a duty to exercise reasonable care and to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of statements made to Plaintiff, and of information sent to and oral communications made to Plaintiff.
77. As a direct proximate result of Defendant Mazer’s fraud and deceit, Plaintiff has suffered money damages, and will continue to suffer money damages, according to proof at the time of trial, but at least in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
78. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ fraud and deceit by intentional misrepresentation, as set forth above, alternative to money damages, Plaintiff is entitled to rescission and restitution damages, according to proof at trial, but at least in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
79. Defendant Mazer’s conduct constitutes intentional misrepresentation, false promise, deceit, suppression of fact known to the Defendants, all with the intention of causing injury to Plaintiff, and was oppressive, fraudulent and malicious conduct as defined in California Civil Code section 3294, and Plaintiff should recover, in addition to actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages according to proof.  
80. This despicable conduct subjected Plaintiff to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of his rights so as to justify an award of exemplary and punitive damages.
81. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred. 
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraud and Deceit by Concealment and Nondisclosure of
Known Facts - Against Mazer)
82. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 81, above.
83. Defendant Mazer concealed and suppressed material facts from Plaintiff both before and after grant of trading authority. 
84. 
Because of Defendant Mazer’s position, and his possession of material facts which only they knew and which they knew that plaintiff did not know, and their knowledge that these facts were material to Assignors, Defendant had a duty to disclose these facts to Plaintiff. 

85. In engaging in the conduct alleged, Defendant Mazer concealed and suppressed material facts that each was bound to disclose, and gave information of other facts to Plaintiff that were likely to mislead Plaintiff because of the suppressed facts.  
86. Defendant Mazer owed Plaintiff a duty of full disclosure, honesty and candor, as well as a duty to exercise reasonable care and to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of statements made to Plaintiff, and of documents sent to and oral communications made to Plaintiff.
87. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Defendant concealed and suppressed those facts with the intent to defraud Plaintiff, that is, Defendant made the concealment and suppressions for the purpose of inducing plaintiff to rely thereon and to act or refrain from acting in reliance thereon.
88. By virtue of their intentional misrepresentations and by virtue of their intentional concealment and suppression of material facts, Defendant intentionally and fraudulently induced Plaintiff to grant him trading authority over the accounts. 
89. 
The true facts were that Defendant Mazer knew that it would use the Plaintiff’s accounts to buy shares of CleanTech, not sell shares as agreed, and use the account to further his scheme of stock manipulation.  Defendant willfully and intentionally concealed and suppressed this material fact.
90. .
Plaintiff was unaware of these concealed and suppressed facts and would not have acted as he did if he had known the concealed and suppressed facts.  That is, had Plaintiff known the true facts, they would never have granted the trading authority.
91. Defendant knew that Plaintiff did not know and could not reasonably discover these concealed and suppressed facts.  Plaintiff reasonably and justifiably relied on those representations and omissions when it granted trading authority.
92. 
Defendant knew these material facts and knew that they were material and neither known nor readily accessible to Plaintiff. 

93. 
In engaging in the conduct alleged, Defendant Mazer made statements of fact, and suggestions and assertions as facts, that were not true and that the Defendant knew were not true and did not believe to be true and had no reasonable grounds for believing to be true.
94. By so doing, Defendant committed fraud by concealment and/or nondisclosure of known facts on Plaintiff as a direct and proximate result of which Assignors have suffered money damages in an amount which is not presently known but which is believed to exceed Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) and which will be proved at trial.
95. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s fraud and concealment, as set forth above, alternative to money damages, Plaintiff is entitled to rescission and restitution damages, according to proof at trial, but at least in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
96. Defendant Mazer’s conduct constitutes fraud, misrepresentation, false promise, deceit, suppression of fact known to the Defendants, all with the intention of causing injury to Plaintiff, and was oppressive, fraudulent and malicious conduct as defined in California Civil Code section 3294, and Plaintiff should recover, in addition to actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages according to proof.  
97. This despicable conduct subjected Plaintiff to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of his rights so as to justify an award of exemplary and punitive damages.
98. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred.
SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fraud and Deceit by Negligent Misrepresentation - Against Defendant Mazer)

99. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 98 above.
100. Defendant Mazer made representations to Plaintiff about existing material facts.  
101. Those representations were false.
102. In making the representations and statements and omitting to state material facts, Defendant Mazer acted negligently in that they made those representations and statements without a reasonable ground for believing them to be true and did not exercise due care in investigating to determine the existence of the material facts omitted. In engaging in the conduct alleged, Defendant made representations and statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary to make statements that they made, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading, and necessary to be stated in order that Plaintiff would be informed of all material facts necessary for Plaintiff to grant trading authority.  Defendant Mazer made such representations and statements with the intent to induce Plaintiff to rely on them.
103. At the time of the representations, statements, and omissions, Plaintiff was unaware of the falsity and misleading nature of the representations and statements and was unaware that there had been omissions of material facts.  Plaintiff justifiably relied on these representations and statements, justifiably believed that there were no omissions of material facts, and reasonably and justifiably relied thereon.  As a result, Plaintiff was induced to grant the trading authority. 

104. As a direct and proximate result of the misrepresentations and omissions alleged, Plaintiff has suffered money damages in an amount which is not presently known but which is believed to exceed Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) and which will be proved at trial.
105. Defendant Mazer’s conduct constitutes negligent misrepresentation, false promise, deceit, suppression of fact known to the Defendants, all with the intention of causing injury to Plaintiff, and was oppressive, fraudulent and malicious conduct as defined in California Civil Code section 3294, and Plaintiff should recover, in addition to actual damages, exemplary and punitive damages according to proof.  
106. This despicable conduct subjected Plaintiff to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard of his rights so as to justify an award of exemplary and punitive damages.
107. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred.
EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Fraud in violation of Section 
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

15 USC 78J AND 17 CFR 240.10B-5 – Defendants CleanTech and Mazer, and Messrs. Hennessey, Becker, Simon,  McGee and Dr. Langenthal, as controlling persons under Exchange Act Section 20(a)
108. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 107, above.
109. Defendants CleanTech and Mazer, directly and indirectly, with scienter, including with recklessness disregard, in connection with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the mails, has employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; has made untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or has engaged in acts, practices or courses of business which have been and are operating as a fraud upon the purchasers or sellers of such securities. 
110. By reason of the foregoing conduct, Defendants CleanTech and  Mazer and have violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 
111. Messrs. Hennessey, Becker, Simon, McGee and Dr. Langenthal, as directors of CleanTech, are also liable for the violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 as controlling persons under Exchange Act Section 20(a).
112. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants CleanTech and Mazer’s fraud, and that of Defendants Hennessey, Becker, Simon, McGee and Langenthal Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has been prevented from the sale of its 435,940 shares; has purchased securities of CleanTech on the open market at prices inflated by market manipulation; and has purchased shares contrary to its trading orders to Mazer. Under Section 10b and Rule 10b-5, Plaintiff is also entitled to triple damages.
NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Fraud under Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 –against Defendant’s CleanTech and Mazer

113. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.
114. Defendants CleanTech and Mazer, directly and indirectly, with scienter, in connection with the offer and sale of securities, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or by use of the mails, has employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud. 
115. By reason of the foregoing conduct, CleanTech and Mazer have violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933. 
116. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants CleanTech and Mazer’s fraud, Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has been prevented from the sale of its 435,940 shares; has purchased securities of CleanTech on the open market at prices inflated by market manipulation; and has purchased shares contrary to its trading orders to Mazer.

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Fraud in violation of Section 
25401  of the California Corporations Code – Defendants CleanTech and Does 1-30; and Messrs. Hennessey, Becker, Simon,  McGee and Dr. Langenthal, as controlling persons under Exchange Act Section 25504
117. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 116, above.
118. Plaintiff purchased 147,634 shares of CleanTech on the open market, for total consideration of $148,543.36, from May to November, 2008.  From January 2, 2008, when it was cleared by the Commission, until the present, CleanTech’s registration statement has been valid and used for the sale of CleanTech common stock by selling stockholders thereof. Such shares which were sold became part of the public float from which Plaintiff purchased its shares.

119. The registration statement contained untrue statements of material fact, or omitted to state material facts to make the statements therein not misleading, in that the true ownership and control of 7 of the 11 largest selling shareholders was concealed. Because of these untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, purchasers and the public were not aware of the control and manipulation of the public trading price that would occur from a small group of persons controlling the market. These untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, concealed the true control persons of the selling stockholders. If such persons were known, the trading price of the common stock would be lesser.  Defendants knew or did not use reasonable care to ensure such statements were true or that no omissions were present. Any reasonably prudent person in the management of its own affairs would have been suspicious to see more than half of the selling shareholders were corporations and apparently from offshore jurisdictions, and performed further investigation in fulfilling their due diligence obligations with respect to the registration statement. Because of these untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, purchasers and the public were not aware of the control and manipulation of the public trading price that would occur from a small group of persons controlling the market.

120. Plaintiff did not know of such untrue statements nor of the omission of statements required to be made to make the statements in the registration statement not misleading.

121. The sales of the CleanTech stock to Plaintiff were made on the over the counter OTC Bulletin Board and were made to Plaintiff in the state of California.

122. The falsity of this information supplied in the CleanTech prospectus and registration statement was easy to verify in a couple hours of internet search engine time. This investigation should have taken place under the due diligence obligation with which directors and signers of the registration statement are under. 

123. Under Section 25401 purchasers for the securities are entitled to sue selling shareholders for any losses occasioned by the false or misleading statements or omissions. The Plaintiff shall add the selling shareholders who sold shares through November 2008 when such are known to it through discovery.

124. Messrs. Hennessey, Becker, Simon, McGee and Dr. Langenthal, as directors of CleanTech, are also liable for the violations of Section 25401 as controlling persons under Section 25504.

125. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants violation of Section 25401, Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has purchased securities of CleanTech offered by the registration statement at prices inflated by the misstatements of material fact contained in the prospectus, and the omission of facts required to make the statements therein not misleading.
126. By reason of the foregoing conduct, Defendants CleanTech and  Mazer and have violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. 

127. Messrs. Hennessey, Becker, Simon, McGee and Dr. Langenthal, as directors of CleanTech, are also liable for the violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 as controlling persons under Exchange Act Section 20(a).

128. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants CleanTech and Mazer’s fraud, and that of Defendants Hennessey, Becker, Simon, McGee and Langenthal Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has been prevented from the sale of its 435,940 shares; has purchased securities of CleanTech on the open market at prices inflated by market manipulation; and has purchased shares contrary to its trading orders to Mazer. Under Section 10b and Rule 10b-5, Plaintiff is also entitled to triple damages.

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Section 25400 of the California Corporations Code –against Defendant Mazer
129. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 128, above.
130. In carrying out his scheme of stock manipulation, Defendant Mazer  violated Section 25400 of the California Corporations Code because he (a) effected trading transactions on the over the counter market for CleanTech stock which involved no change in the beneficial ownership of shares, (b) entered orders for the purchase or sale of CleanTech with the knowledge that orders for  substantially the same size, at substantially the same price, and at substantially the same time, by the same or different parties (c) effected a series of transactions creating apparent or actual trading activity or raising the price of CleanTech shares, for the purpose of inducing others to purchase the CleanTech common stock. Section 25500 gives Plaintiff the right to damages for violation of Section 25400 by Defendant Mazer. 
131. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Mazer’s violation of Section 25400, Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has purchased securities of CleanTech on the open market at prices inflated by Mazer’s market manipulation.
TWELVTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 –against Defendants CleanTech, Hennessey, Kime, Becker, Langenthal, Simon, and McGee

132. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 131, above.
133. Plaintiff purchased 147,634 shares of CleanTech on the open market, for total consideration of $148,543.36, from May to November, 2008.  From January 2, 2008, when it was cleared by the Commission, until the present, CleanTech’s registration statement has been valid and used for the sale of CleanTech common stock by selling stockholders thereof. Such shares which were sold became part of the public float from which Plaintiff purchased its shares.
134. The registration statement contained untrue statements of material fact, or omitted to state material facts to make the statements therein not misleading, in that the true ownership and control of the 7 of the 11 largest selling shareholders was concealed. Because of these untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, purchasers and the public were not aware of the control and manipulation of the public trading price that would occur from a small group of persons controlling the market. These untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, concealed the true control persons of the selling stockholders. If such persons were known, the trading price of the common stock would be lesser.  Any reasonably prudent person in the management of its own affairs would have been suspicious to see more than half of the selling shareholders were corporations and apparently from offshore jurisdictions, and performed further investigation in fulfilling their due diligence obligations with respect to the registration statement
.  The falsity of this information supplied in the CleanTech prospectus and registration statement was easy to verify in a couple hours of internet search engine time. This investigation should have taken place under the due diligence obligation with which directors and signers of the registration statement are under. 
135. Plaintiff did not know of such untrue statements nor of the omission of statements required to be made to make the statements in the registration statement not misleading.
136.  Under Section 11, purchasers for the securities are entitled to sue every person who signed the registration statement and every director, for any losses occasioned by the false or misleading statements or omissions. Messrs. Hennessey, Kime, Becker, Simon, and McGee and Dr. Langenthal all signed the registration statement; all are directors save Mr.Kime.
137. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants violation of Section 11, Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has purchased securities of CleanTech offered by the registration statement at prices inflated by the misstatements of material fact contained in the prospectus, and the omission of facts required to make the statements therein not misleading.
THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Section 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 –against Defendants CleanTech, and Does 1-30

138. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 137, above.
139. Plaintiff purchased 147,634 shares of CleanTech on the open market, for total consideration of $148,543.36, from May to November, 2008.  From January 2, 2008, when it was cleared by the Commission, until the present, CleanTech’s registration statement has been valid and used for the sale of CleanTech common stock by selling stockholders thereof. Such shares which were sold became part of the public float from which Plaintiff purchased its shares. 

140. The registration statement contained untrue statements of material fact, or omitted to state material facts to make the statements therein not misleading, in that the true ownership and control of 7 of the 11 largest selling shareholders was concealed. Because of these untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, purchasers and the public were not aware of the control and manipulation of the public trading price that would occur from a small group of persons controlling the market. These untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, concealed the true control persons of the selling stockholders. If such persons were known, the trading price of the common stock would be lesser.  Defendants knew or did not use reasonable care to ensure such statements were true or that no omissions were present. Any reasonably prudent person in the management of its own affairs would have been suspicious to see more than half of the selling shareholders were corporations and apparently from offshore jurisdictions, and performed further investigation in fulfilling their due diligence obligations with respect to the registration statement. Because of these untrue statements, and the omission of untrue statements, purchasers and the public were not aware of the control and manipulation of the public trading price that would occur from a small group of persons controlling the market.
141. Plaintiff did not know of such untrue statements nor of the omission of statements required to be made to make the statements in the registration statement not misleading.
142. The sales of the CleanTech stock to Plaintiff were made on the over the counter OTC Bulletin Board and were made by means of interstate commerce or of the mails. 
143. The falsity of this information supplied in the CleanTech prospectus and registration statement was easy to verify in a couple hours of internet search engine time. This investigation should have taken place under the due diligence obligation with which directors and signers of the registration statement are under. 
144. Under Section 12(2) purchasers for the securities are entitled to sue selling shareholders for any losses occasioned by the false or misleading statements or omissions. The Plaintiff shall add the selling shareholders who sold shares through November 2008 when such are known to it through discovery.
145. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants violation of Section 12(2), Plaintiff sustained and will continue to sustain damages in excess of $25,000, in that it has purchased securities of CleanTech offered by the registration statement at prices inflated by the misstatements of material fact contained in the prospectus, and the omission of facts required to make the statements therein not misleading.
FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of Business & Professions Code 17200 - Against All Defendants)

146. Plaintiff refers to and by this reference incorporate paragraphs 1 through 145, above.
147. Defendant’s actions and omissions complained of in this complaint constitute “unfair competition,” within the meaning of Business & Professions Code Sections 17200 et seq. (the “UCL”), because they include “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business practice[s]”” that have the capacity to - and did-deceive consumers in violation of the UCL.
148. Defendants engaged in unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices by violating state and/or federal law including, but not limited to, California Commercial Code Sections 8401, 8402, and 8403 and California Corporations Code 25400, 25501, Section 11, 12(2) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, and Section 10(b)5 of the .Securities Exchange Act of 1934   and Federal Rule 10b-5 (as alleged above).  Plaintiff reserves the right to identify additional violations of California and/or federal law committed by Defendants as further investigation and discovery warrant.
149. Defendants also engaged in unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices by their fraudulent and deceptive acts and omissions as, for example, alleged in the first through the third causes of action above.
150. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Business & Professions Code Section 17200, set forth above, Plaintiff are entitled to restitution damages according to proof at trial but at least in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00).
151. Plaintiff has been required to retain the services of an attorney to file and prosecute this action and has thereby been damaged.  Plaintiff is, therefore, entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred. 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants, and request relief as follows: 

AS TO THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof; 

For any other remedy allowed by the Court, including injunctive relief;
For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial

AS TO THE SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof;

In the alternative, for rescission and restitution damages; and,

For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial. 
AS TO THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof;

In the alternative, for recision and restitution damages; and 

For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial.

AS TO THE FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof; and,

In the alternative, for recision and restitution damages; and 

For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial.

AS TO THE FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof; and,
In the alternative, for recision and restitution damages; and 
For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial.

AS TO THE SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof; and,

In the alternative, for recision and restitution damages; and 

For exemplary and punitive damages according to proof at trial.

AS TO THE SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
For money damages according to proof;

For treble damages as allowed under Section 10b-5;

AS TO THE EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE TWELVETH CAUSE OF ACTION
For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
For money damages according to proof.

AS TO THE FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
For money damages according to proof.
For restitution damages according to proof; and,

For any other remedy allowed under Unfair Business Practices Act, Bus. & Prof. Code Sections 17200 et seq.
AS TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION:

For costs of suit incurred herein; 

For interest at the legal rate; 
To the extent allowed under the law, for attorneys' fees and costs; and,

For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

DATED:  January 2, 2009
By:
________________________


Jehu Hand, Esq.

Hand & Hand PC


24351 Pasto Road Suite B


Dana Point, California 92629


(949) 489-2400


Facsimile (949) 489-0034
� DTC is the entity which holds share certificates on behalf of brokers, so that they can be traded without the delays of paper transfers. When one broker sells stock to another, the transfer is noted electronically on DTC records, while the stock certificate is held by DTC as custodian.


� Because Defendant CleanTech is a Delaware corporation, the UCC as adopted by Delaware is the governing local law pursuant to UCC Section 8-110. However, since both Delaware and California have adopted the 1994 revisions to the UCC, the language of the California and Delaware statutes are basically  identical. 


� Usually the Annual Report or Prospectus of a reverse merger company has a chart or narrative disclosing the reverse merger transaction and the capitalization history, but not CleanTech’s.


� The numbers are 18 and 12, rather than 19 and 13, because Two Shamrocks and STL Capital are both listed in the prospectus as being controlled by Anthony Cupini so they are aggregated under the rules of the Commission.


� Cupini’s two corporations hold collectively 6.64% of the total outstanding. Cupini is a business associate of Mazer. Under the disclosure rules, the shareholdings of STL and Two Shamrocks should have been aggregated, and Mr. Cupini should have been listed in the main beneficial ownership table on page 45, but was not.


� This appears to be the same St. Louis businessman Eugene P. Slay who, according to a New York Times article dated June 4, 1987, was convicted of two counts of wire fraud and three counts of mail fraud in a bribery case involving a Chicago alderman.


� As stated in a January 26, 2006 article attached as Exhibit F, “Licda. [attorney] Maritza Sanabria Mianda (sic) a lawyer and notary, she is a senior and founding partner of the LPS&C Law firm. Ms Sanabria is an expert in international asset protection and tax strategies. She specializes in wealth protection and tax minimization, international asset protection trusts and foundations, international business corporations, worldwide investing, yacht registrations, and global banking. Ms. Sanabria is a member of, ABA (American Bar Association), IBA (International Bar Association) The IFA (International Fiscal Association), AOA (The Asia Offshore Association) and The Colegio de Abogados en Costa Rica.”


� As stated in the Genethera 10-QSB, an excerpt of which is attached as Exhibit G,  “The Company retained legal counsel from Mark A. Shoemaker, located in Long Beach, CA, who was highly recommended by the Company’s Financial Advisor, Mr. Gary Rasmussen, who is also the primary beneficiary of Imperial Capital Holdings, LLC located in Costa Rica. It was exceedingly recommended by the primary beneficiary, Mr. Rasmussen, to open a line of credit for GeneThera, Inc. through his company, Imperial Capital Holdings, LLC. Although, Mr. Rasmussen’s name is not on the communications between Imperial and GeneThera, Inc., Maritza Sanabria, the Managing Director from Imperial notified the CAO of the Company that Mr. Rasmussen is the primary beneficiary of Imperial Capital Holdings, LLC.”


� Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 defines a promoter to include “Any person who, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons, directly or indirectly takes initiative in founding and organizing the business or enterprise of an issuer.”





� An example of this kind of stock manipulation is set forth in SEC v. Sealife, et al. [� HYPERLINK "http://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp19171.pdf" �http://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp19171.pdf�]. In the Sealife case, the defendants were required to disgorge profits and were enjoined from similar activities in the future.





� An example of marking the close is described in SEC V. Competitive Technologies, Inc, et al, � HYPERLINK "http://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp18827.pdf" �http://www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/comp18827.pdf�.


� It should be noted that Regulation M, and its Rule 102 promulgated under Rule 10b-6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, prohibits selling stockholders (or their affiliates)  from bidding for or purchasing securities  while a selling stockholder offering is in progress. Although Plaintiff was not a selling stockholder, to the extent Mazer was affiliated with any selling stockholder (such as Padstow), his purchases of common stock would also violate this rule. 


� Although Section 11 only requires the standard of care of a reasonably prudent person, Plaintiff would like to point out that the CleanTech board of directors and other signers of the registration statement appear to be very sophisticated—including three lawyers, one of which is a law professor and another  a securities lawyer; a former CPA; and a former stockbroker.
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